




































 
 

      
 
To:    Dexter Legg, Chair Planning Board 

Cc:    Karen S. Conard, City Manager   

From:    Rosann Lentz, City Assessor, Rosann Lentz 

Date:    May 27, 2021 

RE:  City Council Referral‐ Request of Restoration of Involuntarily Merged Lots to pre‐merger status 
at 135 Thaxter Road – RIML‐21‐2 

 

 
At  its meeting May 17, 2021, the City Council considered a request from Bernie W. Pelech, Esq., on behalf of 
the property owners Vincent and Monica Zinganello, requesting the restoration of involuntarily merged lots at 
135 Thaxter Road  to  their pre‐merger  status pursuant  to NH RSA 674:39‐aa.   These  lots are  represented as 
Map 166 Lot 15 and historical Plan 46A Lots 52 and 53.  The Council voted to refer to the Planning Board and 
Assessor for report back. 
 
Description 
Current assessment records identify the parcel as having .23 +‐ acres with a 3 bedroom 1.5 bath single family 
dwelling built around 1930 located on the parcel.   
 
History 
Deeds:  Older assessment records dating back to the 50’s identified the parcel as 2 separate lots until 1983. 
According to the deeds researched back to 1930, book 920 page 365 and 1934 book 888 page 410, identified 
two vacant lots (lot 52 and lot 53) and were deeded individually to Harry F. Downing   In 1989, these two lots 
were transferred to Dale T. and Nicholas W. Genimatas on one deed and identified as two individual lots.   
 
Property Assessment Records: Between 1953 and 1972 property assessment records show Plan 46A Lots 52 
and 53 separately assessed.  Assessment records for Tax Year 1983 show one assessment for both lots. 
 
Building Inspection/Planning Records/Ariel Records 
2020 Ariel views of the lots show the driveway to the dwelling straddles the property line of lots 52 and 53 of 
the  requested un‐merger.   Additionally,  in 2011 Vincent Zingariello applied  for and was granted a driveway 
permit to expand the frontage of the driveway located at 135 Thaxter Road by 10 to 12 feet.  This expansion 
again straddled the property lines of the requested un‐merger of lots 52 & 53.    
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Court Decisions 
Upon review of various New Hampshire court decisions concerning the denial of restorations of lots, the courts 
have held that the conveyance of multiple lots in a single deed does not, standing alone, support a voluntary 
merger Roberts v. Town of Windham, 165 N.H. 186,192 (2013).   
 
Additionally, court decisions also  looked at the use of the property  in  its entirety by reviewing a  lots physical 
characteristics and the overt actions that occurred over time to the placement of buildings, driveways,  
outbuildings etc.  These decisions, citing totality of changes, can reasonably support that lots by predecessors 
or current owners were voluntarily merged when facts show the primary and accessory buildings, access, etc. 
work as a unit.   Robillard v. Town of Hudson, 120 N.H. 477,416  (1980); Town of Newbury v. Landrigan, 165 
N.H.236,241 (201); and Roberts v. Town of Windham, 165 N.H. 186 (2013). 
 
Additionally,  the New Hampshire Municipal Association has  interpreted  the  above  court decision  to mean, 
“Governing bodies and zoning boards of adjustment now know they should review requests to unmerge  lots 
based upon all of the circumstances of actual use of the property, and that the lack of a request to voluntarily 
merge the lots by the current or former owner will not, standing alone, support such a request”). 
 
Summary 
No written request for voluntary merger was found but the above court decision identifies that it is not only a 
formal request for un‐merger that should be taken into consideration when approving or denying a request for 
restoration of involuntarily merged lots. 
 
When reviewing the Ariel photos and looking at the request for expansion of frontage to the existing driveway 
by Mr. Zingariello  in 2011,  it  is reasonable to support that the property was treated as a unit and voluntarily 
merged through an overt action by the current owner. 
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